RECEIVED

Apr 11 2022

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean H. Toal, Acting Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000272

Beverly Dale Jolly and Brenda Rice Jolly, Respondents,
v.
General Electric Company, et al., Defendants,
Of whom Fisher Controls International LLC and Crosby
Valve, LLC are the..... Petitioners.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

C. Mitchell Brown
A. Mattison Bogan
James B. Glenn
Nicholas A. Charles
NELSON MULLINS RILEY & SCARBOROUGH LLP
1320 Main Street / 17th Floor
Post Office Box 11070 (29211-1070)
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 799-2000

Introduction

Pursuant to Rules 240 and 242 of the South Carolina Appellate Court Rules, Petitioners Fisher Controls International LLC (“Fisher”) and Crosby Valve, LLC (“Crosby”) hereby petition this Court to issue a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals’ opinion affirming the verdict and *additur* judgment in favor of Respondents Beverly Dale Jolly (“Mr. Jolly”) and Brenda Rice Jolly (“Mrs. Jolly”) (together, “Plaintiffs”).¹ *See Jolly v. Gen. Elec. Co.*, Op. No. 5858 (S.C. Ct. App. filed Sept. 1, 2021) (Howard Adv. Sh. No. 30 at 139). The Court of Appeals’ rulings in this case are in conflict with prior decisions of this Court, and certiorari should be granted.

In its opinion, the Court of Appeals adopted Pennsylvania law, which differs from South Carolina law, for its analysis of whether Plaintiffs presented proper evidence to prove substantial factor causation. The Court of Appeals also wrongly suggested a different evidentiary standard exists for asbestosis cases as compared to mesothelioma cases for purposes of determining substantial factor causation. There is a disagreement among courts on certain of these issues, and only this Court should have the definitive voice on them. This Court should grant certiorari and make clear its adherence to the majority of courts’ positions as to the required proof for substantial factor causation for both mesothelioma and asbestosis cases. This Court should specifically reject the Pennsylvania Supreme Court’s decision in *Rost v. Ford Motor Co.*, 151 A.3d 1032 (Pa. 2016), not adopt it as has the Court of Appeals.

The Court of Appeals also substituted its own reasoning for that of the trial court’s in affirming the granting of a new trial *nisi additur*—despite lacking the power to grant *additur*—and further held it was permissible for the trial court to grant *additur* based on speculative

¹ Counsel for Fisher and Crosby certify that Fisher and Crosby filed a petition for rehearing in the Court of Appeals, and the Court of Appeals denied the petition on February 25, 2022.

assumptions about the jury's intended allocation of a general verdict. The Court of Appeals shifted the burden of proof on Plaintiffs' design defect claims to Fisher and Crosby, holding Plaintiffs were not required to prove the cost of a purported alternative design was reasonable, and instead noting there was no proof from Fisher and Crosby that an alternative was cost-prohibitive. The Court of Appeals held Plaintiffs are free to unilaterally allocate settlement funds and avoid a complete setoff, despite acknowledging that such conflicts with the plain language of the setoff statute. Finally, the Court of Appeals held Fisher and Crosby's trial counsel, by virtue of their representation, were appointed agents for service of process as a matter of law, and held that signing for a FedEx package is "acceptance" of service if the package ultimately contains a subpoena for service. These rulings are inconsistent with governing law. Accordingly, this Court should grant certiorari and reverse. *See* Rule 242(b), SCACR.

Questions Presented for Review

- I. Whether the trial court and Court of Appeals erred in finding Fisher and Crosby were not entitled to JNOV on Plaintiffs' design defect claims.
- II. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's abuse of discretion in granting a new trial *nisi additur*.
- III. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in affirming the trial court's erroneous setoff calculation based on Plaintiffs' improper, unilateral allocation of settlement proceeds to avoid a complete setoff, including an allocation of settlement funds to a nonexistent claim.
- IV. Whether the Court of Appeals erred in finding that the trial court had the power to compel Fisher's and Crosby's corporate representatives to testify in Plaintiffs' case-in-chief and that Plaintiffs properly served their trial subpoenas on Fisher and Crosby.

Statement of the Case

I. Background

Plaintiffs filed this action on April 5, 2016, against sixty-three defendants, including Fisher and Crosby. (R. 55). Plaintiffs asserted claims for negligence, strict liability, breach of implied

warranty, fraudulent misrepresentation, and loss of consortium² based on Mr. Jolly's alleged exposure to asbestos while working for Duke Power Company ("Duke"). (*Id.*).

Mr. Jolly worked for Duke from 1979 to 2003 at facilities in South Carolina and North Carolina. (R. 64). Between 1980 and 1984, he worked as a mechanical inspector at the Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba Nuclear Stations, as well as other facilities. (R. 497–508, 533–34). He worked around other tradesmen tearing out asbestos insulation and gaskets, which released asbestos fibers into the air. (*Id.*). He was diagnosed with mesothelioma in late 2015. (R. 471).

Fisher manufactures and sells process control valves used in industrial facilities, including nuclear power plants like Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba. (R. 1300–01). Crosby manufactured safety-related valves for industrial facilities, including nuclear power plants. (R. 1379–80).

II. Pretrial Issues

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs purported to serve trial subpoenas on Fisher and Crosby to compel corporate representatives to testify during Plaintiffs' case-in-chief. (R. 4626, 4639). Plaintiffs sent the subpoenas via FedEx to Fisher and Crosby's counsel in South Carolina, who signed for the FedEx packages without knowing their contents. (R. 332, 4626, 4639). Fisher and Crosby moved to quash the subpoenas due to improper service, but the trial court ruled that Rule 45, SCRCF, gave the court the power to compel out-of-state parties who have submitted to the jurisdiction of the court to appear and testify at trial, even without proper service. (R. 333–34).

Fisher and Crosby also moved to exclude the testimony of Plaintiffs' three expert witnesses—Dr. Arthur L. Frank, Dr. Arnold R. Brody, and Dr. John Maddox—on the grounds that the experts intended to present opinions that "each and every exposure" to asbestos causes mesothelioma. *See* (R. 4371, 4390). Fisher and Crosby argued that no published or peer reviewed

² All of Plaintiffs' claims submitted to the jury were design defect claims.

literature supports the theory that “each and every exposure” to asbestos causes mesothelioma, and that the theory was at odds with substantial factor causation requirements under South Carolina law. (R. 282). The trial court denied the motion. (R. 286).

Prior to trial, Plaintiffs settled with various defendants for \$2,270,000. None of the settlements were approved by the Court or made available to Fisher or Crosby for review.

III. The Evidence at Trial

At trial, Plaintiffs focused their exposure evidence on Mr. Jolly’s work at Oconee, McGuire, and Catawba from 1980 through 1984. (R. 485–86). Mr. Jolly’s only testimony alleging exposure to asbestos in connection with Fisher or Crosby valves related to flange gaskets, which Duke workers placed on the exterior of the valves to connect the valves to piping systems.³ (R. 490, 517–18). Mr. Jolly claimed that he stood near other tradesmen who used tools to grind gasket material from valve flanges. (R. 497–500). He did not testify as to how many of those valves were Fisher or Crosby valves.⁴ (R. 503–04).

A. Plaintiffs’ Expert Testimony

Plaintiffs’ expert, Dr. Arthur Frank, offered opinions at trial as to causation. Dr. Frank initially testified that there is “no safe level” of asbestos exposure and “for mesothelioma, one day (of exposure) has done it.” (R. 699–700). Dr. Frank espoused the “cumulative dose” theory, stating, “What we have to say at the end of the day, if someone gets a mesothelioma, is that the cumulative exposure they have had to asbestos from whatever products over whatever time is what

³ Although some Fisher valves had flange connections that required gaskets when connected to a pipe, Fisher did not manufacture or sell flange gaskets and did not incorporate flange gaskets into its valves. (R. 1123, 1312–13, 1343–44). Crosby also did not manufacture, sell, or otherwise provide external gaskets to Duke or its other customers. (R. 1428).

⁴ Plaintiffs’ own proof revealed that Crosby and Fisher were two of at least twelve makers of valves present at the Duke sites, in roughly the same amount as at least eight of the other ten. (R. 530, 877, 1062–63).

gave it to them.” (R. 715). He then gave an analogy, saying that even one cigarette among a million brands smoked by someone with lung cancer is not “inconsequential,” concluding “[t]he same thing applies to asbestos. Some products contribute more; some contribute less, *but you can’t leave any of them out because it is a cumulative exposure, the totality of what people were exposed to that gave them disease. So all of them have to be included.*” (R. 715–16).

Asked if a single exposure “to asbestos from the removal of asbestos-containing gaskets on a valve flange face” would be a substantial contributing factor to mesothelioma, Dr. Frank said that “since there is no exposure that can be left out for reasons we discussed a bit earlier, that would be a substantial contributing factor. It is part of one’s cumulative exposure.” (R. 723–24). He claimed that this would be true even if it were the only exposure, while at the same time admitting “I have not ever seen such a case(.)” (R. 724–25).

Dr. Frank reported his understanding that, from 1980–84, Jolly was regularly within ten feet of, and exposed to asbestos from, flange gaskets *associated with valves generally*. (R. 730–31). He said this exposure would be a significant contributing cause of Jolly’s mesothelioma. (R. 731). Asked to assume that Crosby was one of the valves “and that the asbestos-containing gaskets were supplied or specified by Crosby with its valve,” Frank said “*to the extent that Mr. Jolly was exposed to asbestos, that it was connected in some way with a Crosby valve, that would have been a substantial contributing cause to his mesothelioma.*” (R. 732). He gave the same answer as to Fisher. (R. 733). Consistent with that “every exposure” opinion, he said that either the Crosby or Fisher exposure alone would have been sufficient for causation. (R. 734).

Plaintiffs also read the deposition testimony of their expert pathologist, Dr. John Maddox, at trial.⁵ He testified that Mr. Jolly’s disease was “caused by his cumulative asbestos exposure.” (R. 1544). Dr. Maddox admitted that mesothelioma is a dose-response disease, and that a small exposure carries a small risk. (R. 1543). Dr. Maddox was asked to assume that Mr. Jolly had exposures over a three to four year period (1980–84) “from asbestos-containing gaskets and packing⁶ used in some but not all of the valves at a power plant during outages and shutdowns at several plants which happened as a regular part of his job,” and that the exposures “were in the hundreds or in the thousands to hundreds of thousands to millions of times above background.” (R. 1546–47). He first characterized this as significant and said that if “that” were the only known exposure, it alone would be sufficient to cause mesothelioma. (R. 1547–48).

B. Evidence of Medical Expenses

Plaintiffs did not present *any* of Mr. Jolly’s medical bills or medical records at trial or present testimony from Mr. Jolly’s treating doctors or family members about the amount of his medical expenses. Instead, the only evidence of Plaintiffs’ economic damages was an expert’s (Dr. Frank’s) testimony that he had seen “*some* of the medical bills” related to Mr. Jolly’s treatment, which he said totaled \$142,000. (R. 759, 845). Over Fisher’s and Crosby’s objection, Dr. Frank also gave his opinion “as to what would be the cost of medical care for Mr. Jolly for the care and treatment of his mesothelioma through the time that he might pass away,” testifying that Mr. Jolly could incur hundreds of thousands of dollars in treatment and “[c]ases even go to a million dollars or more.” (R. 760–61). Dr. Frank later clarified his testimony:

⁵ Plaintiffs’ third expert, biologist Arnold Brody, addressed only general, not specific, causation. He acknowledged mesothelioma is a dose-response disease, yet said “there is no threshold” for causing mesothelioma and that “once you get above background, there is no level that we know is safe or will not cause mesothelioma.” (R. 1001–02).

⁶ Mr. Jolly never claimed exposure to packing related in any way to any Fisher or Crosby valve.

Q: . . . You were asked about the cost of Mr. Jolly's treatment?
A: Yes, sir.
Q: And you said about a million dollars?
A: I said it would not be unreasonable to be a million dollars.

(R. 845).

IV. The Verdict and Post-Trial Issues

The jury returned a verdict in favor of Plaintiffs on their negligence and breach of implied warranty claims and awarded \$200,000 in damages for Mr. Jolly and \$100,000 for Mrs. Jolly's loss of consortium claim. (R. 52). Plaintiffs did not request a special verdict form, and the jury did not allocate the damages awards between medical expenses or pain and suffering. (*Id.*).

Fisher and Crosby moved for JNOV, arguing Plaintiffs failed to present reliable, admissible specific causation evidence. (R. 4793–4803). Instead, Plaintiffs' experts' "cumulative exposure" and "every exposure" opinions failed to analyze whether exposures *attributable to Fisher or Crosby* were *substantial factors* in causing Mr. Jolly's mesothelioma. (*Id.*). The opinions had no probative value on substantial factor causation and were inadmissible. Plaintiffs had no probative, reliable, admissible evidence of specific causation evidence, thus entitling Fisher and Crosby to JNOV. Fisher and Crosby also asserted Plaintiffs failed to present any evidence of a reasonable alternative design and, as a consequence, they cannot recover on any of their claims. (R. 4773). The trial court denied Fisher and Crosby's motion for JNOV on all grounds. (R. 11).

Plaintiffs moved for new trial *nisi additur*, arguing the jury's verdict was inadequate and asking the trial court to increase the damages award. (R. 4696). The trial court granted Plaintiffs' motion. (R. 11). The trial court decided the jury's \$200,000 verdict for Mr. Jolly consisted of \$142,000 in medical expenses—because Dr. Frank claimed he had seen \$142,000 in medical bills—and \$58,000 in damages for pain and suffering. (R. 11). The trial court then characterized Dr. Frank's testimony that "cases like this" can incur medical bills of "a million dollars or more"

as “undisputed” and increased Mr. Jolly’s damages for medical expenses to \$1,000,000. (R. 18, 755, 759–62). The trial court also assumed the jury failed to award Mr. Jolly damages for loss of enjoyment of life, mental anguish, and “future damages” and increased Mr. Jolly’s noneconomic damages to \$580,000, or ten times the \$58,000 the trial court assumed the jury had awarded for those damages. (R. 18). The trial court then awarded \$290,000—half the amount of Mr. Jolly’s purported noneconomic damages—to Mrs. Jolly as damages for loss of consortium. (R. 19–20). In support of the loss of consortium *additur*, the trial recited some elements of Mrs. Jolly’s claimed damages. (R. 19–20).

Fisher and Crosby also moved to set off Plaintiffs’ pretrial settlements against the verdict amounts. (R. 4758). The trial court granted the motion, in part. The court accepted Plaintiffs’ counsels’ representation that they had “internally” allocated the \$2,270,000 in settlement funds one-third to personal injury claims, one-third to loss of consortium claims, and one-third to “future wrongful death claims.” (R. 44–47). Based on Plaintiffs’ “internal” allocation, the trial court offset Mr. Jolly’s personal injury claims and Mrs. Jolly’s loss of consortium claims by \$756,666.67 each, which resulted in an award of \$823,333.33 for Mr. Jolly and a complete offset for Mrs. Jolly. (*Id.*). The trial court refused to set off any of the \$756,666.67 Plaintiffs allocated to “future wrongful death claims” because those claims had not been tried. (*Id.*). Fisher and Crosby appealed. The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court on all issues.

Argument

I. The trial court and Court of Appeals erred in finding Fisher and Crosby were not entitled to JNOV on Plaintiffs’ design defect claims.

The trial court and Court of Appeals erred in finding Fisher and Crosby were not entitled to JNOV on Plaintiffs’ design defect claims—whether based on a theory that the defect was the use of asbestos or that the defect was a failure to include a warning about asbestos—on several

grounds. First, the Court of Appeals erred in finding Fisher and Crosby were not entitled to JNOV because Plaintiffs failed to present admissible causation expert testimony. Second, Plaintiffs' claims that the design of Fisher's and Crosby's valves were defective because they failed to use non-asbestos gaskets fails as a matter of law because Plaintiffs failed to present evidence of a reasonable alternative design. Finally, Plaintiffs' claims that the design of Fisher's and Crosby's valves was defective because the design did not include a warning fails because Plaintiffs failed to present evidence as to what a warning should have contained, where a warning could have been given, or that Mr. Jolly would have heeded a warning.

A. The trial court and Court of Appeals erred in finding Fisher and Crosby were not entitled to JNOV because Plaintiffs failed to present admissible specific causation expert testimony.

South Carolina law requires a mesothelioma plaintiff to prove specific causation⁷ by satisfying the substantial factor causation test adopted by this Court in *Henderson v. Allied Signal, Inc.*, 373 S.C. 179, 185, 644 S.E.2d 724, 727 (2007), which derives from the Fourth Circuit's opinion in *Lohrmann v. Pittsburgh Corning Corp.*, 782 F.2d 1156, 1162 (4th Cir. 1986). *See Henderson*, 373 S.C. at 185, 644 S.E.2d at 727 ("In determining whether exposure is actionable, we adopt the 'frequency, regularity, and proximity test' set forth in *Lohrmann* . . . : 'To support a reasonable inference of substantial causation from circumstantial evidence, there must be evidence

⁷ Where medical causation is at issue and is not within common knowledge—such as the relationship between a particular asbestos exposure and mesothelioma—a plaintiff must prove both general and specific causation through expert testimony. *See Fisher v. Pelstring*, 817 F. Supp. 2d 791, 814 (D.S.C. 2011). "General causation is whether a substance is capable of causing a particular injury or condition in the general population, while specific causation is whether a substance caused a particular individual's injury." *Id.* Only specific causation is at issue in this appeal. Further, to the extent the Court of Appeals found Mr. Jolly's testimony alone was sufficient to create a jury question as to specific causation, that finding is erroneous because the medical causation at issue here is not within common knowledge, and expert testimony is therefore required. *Id.*

of exposure to a specific product on a regular basis over some extended period of time in proximity to where the plaintiff actually worked.”); *Pace v. Air & Liquid Sys. Corp.*, 642 Fed. App’x 244 (4th Cir. 2016) (noting claimants must prove (1) exposure with frequency, regularity, and proximity to (2) asbestos-containing products (3) placed in the stream of commerce by defendant).

Plaintiffs’ expert witnesses avoided this legal causation standard by opining that “every exposure” to asbestos at levels “above background”—i.e., above the amount of exposure the general public receives from asbestos in the ambient air (which varies by location)—was a substantial factor in causing Mr. Jolly’s development of mesothelioma. (R. 699–700, 715–16, 719–35, 1001–02, 1544). The trial court erred in admitting the experts’ opinions and denying JNOV, and the Court of Appeals erred in affirming.

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