RECEIVED

May 19 2022

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM SPARTANBURG COUNTY
Court of Common Pleas

Jean Hoefler Toal, Chief Justice of the Supreme Court of South Carolina (Retired),
Acting as Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2022-000272

Beverly Dale Jolly and Brenda Rice Jolly, Respondents,

vs.

General Electric Company, et al., Defendants,

Of whom Fisher Controls International LLC
and Crosby Valve, LLC are the Petitioners.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Lisa W. Shirley (admitted *pro hac vice*)
Jonathan M. Holder
DEAN OMAR BRANHAM, LLP
300 N. Market Street, Suite 300
Dallas, TX 75202
Telephone: (214) 722-5990

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

With regard to Plaintiffs' failure-to-warn claim, Fisher/Crosby raise different arguments in this Court than they did below. Here, they contend that "Plaintiffs presented no evidence regarding how any warning could have been effectively communicated to Mr. Jolly or that Mr. Jolly would have heeded a warning."

Petition, at 20-21. In the Court of Appeals, however, they argued that there was a failure of proof on Plaintiffs' failure-to-warn claims "because (1) Appellants were protected by the sophisticated intermediary doctrine³ and (2) the danger of asbestos gaskets was open and obvious." *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 642, 869 S.E.2d at 838. The Court of Appeals rejected both of these arguments, concluding that "the circuit court properly upheld the jury's verdict on Respondents' failure-to-warn claims." *Id.* at 648, 869 S.E.2d at 841.

Fisher/Crosby's complaints against the Court of Appeals are taken completely out of context, as they barely refer to the sophisticated intermediary defense and completely omit reference to the open-and-obvious doctrine in their argument to this Court. Nevertheless, the Court of Appeals's discussion of these defenses, and their ultimate conclusion that these were jury issues, disposes of Fisher/Crosby's arguments here.

With regard to the evidence regarding how Fisher/Crosby could have effectively warned Mr. Jolly about asbestos, the Court of Appeals noted several methods supported by the evidence. The evidence showed that "[w]henver a worn gasket was replaced, Dale had to verify the number on the replacement gasket by the manufacturer's manual and document this verification." *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 621, 869 S.E.2d at 826. Consequently, the jury could have reasonably concluded that "Dale would have seen a warning on a replacement gasket when verifying the

³ This is an affirmative defense on which Fisher/Crosby bore the burden of proof. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 644, 869 S.E.2d at 839.

number on that gasket.” *Id.* at 645, 869 S.E.2d at 840. Moreover, Plaintiffs argued that a warning could have been placed on the outside of the valve⁴ and Fisher/Crosby did not refute that. *Id.* As it was Fisher/Crosby’s burden under the sophisticated intermediary defense to show that a warning would have been ineffective or infeasible, the Court of Appeals properly rejected their contention that they could not have warned on their valves. *Id.* at 646, 869 S.E.2d at 840.

The evidence, in fact, supported a number of additional ways that Fisher/Crosby could have effectively warned. As the Court of Appeals noted, Mr. Jolly checked the Fisher/Crosby manuals when verifying the numbers on the gaskets. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 621, 869 S.E.2d at 826. The evidence showed that Fisher/Crosby placed other kinds of warnings in their valve manuals, raising the inference that they could have also placed an asbestos warning there. (R. 1076, lines 2-11; R. 1391, line 25- 1392, line 12; R. 1414, line 5-25; R. 3309-3316). There was also evidence that Fisher/Crosby could have provided material safety data sheets with information about the product composition, hazards, and recommended precautions. (R. 855, line 5- 856, line 1; R. 858, lines 8-17). Further, in their training and instructional classes and materials in which they gave directions about how to remove gaskets with wire brushes (R. 1207, line 6- 1209, line 11; R. 1212, line 9- 1215, line 1), they could have mentioned that the gaskets contained asbestos and were hazardous. Finally, there were Fisher/Crosby personnel on site at Duke (R.

⁴ There was already a place on the valve for the manufacturer name and serial number. (R. 1160, lines 16-19; R. 1377, lines 5- 1378, line 17; R. 3954).

520, line 21- 521, line 8; R. 3944-3947), who could have provided warnings.

With regard to whether Mr. Jolly would have heeded a warning, the Court of Appeals found that the evidence supported a jury finding that he would have. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 648, 869 S.E.2d at 841. While Mr. Jolly may have known about the hazards of asbestos insulation, he testified that he *followed* Duke's warnings about asbestos insulation and did not remove it himself. (R. 535, lines 1-8). To the extent Fisher/Crosby argued that Mr. Jolly "did not heed Duke's warnings about asbestos," the Court of Appeals "disagree[d] with Appellants' characterization of the testimony in question." *Id.* The court declined to "interpret the testimony as an admission that Dale knowingly placed himself within proximity of dust from asbestos insulation." *Id.* In any event, this was "not the only reasonable inference." *Id.*

The Court of Appeals properly found that issues related to warnings were questions for the jury. *Id.* at 645-46, 648, 869 S.E.2d at 839-41; *see also Curcio*, 355 S.C. at 320, 585 S.E.2d at 274. The jury had ample evidence to determine that Fisher/Crosby failed to adequately warn and that Mr. Jolly would have heeded a proper warning. Fisher/Crosby's contentions to the contrary lack merit.

III. The Court of Appeals properly determined that the circuit court did not abuse its discretion in granting a new trial *nisi additur*.

The jury awarded a total of \$300,000 in damages for Mr. Jolly's pain and suffering from mesothelioma, a fatal cancer, as well as loss of consortium damages for Mrs. Jolly. (R. 53). In moving for a new trial *nisi additur*, Plaintiffs asked the circuit court to increase Mr. Jolly's damages award from \$200,000 to \$2,000,000,

and to increase Mrs. Jolly's damages award from \$100,000 to \$500,000. (R. 4697). The circuit court granted the motion for less than Plaintiffs' request, increasing the verdict to \$1,580,000 for Mr. Jolly and \$290,000 for Mrs. Jolly. (R. 47).

The Court of Appeals properly reviewed the circuit court's grant of a new trial *nisi additur* for abuse of discretion. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 654-55, 869 S.E.2d at 845. Under such review, the circuit court's "decision will not be disturbed on appeal unless [its] findings are wholly unsupported by the evidence or the conclusions reached are controlled by error of law." *Id.* at 655, 869 S.E.2d at 845 (quoting *Sapp v. Wheeler*, 402 S.C. 502, 512, 741 S.E.2d 565, 571 (Ct. App. 2013)). "Great deference" is given to the circuit court because "[t]he [circuit court] who heard the evidence and is more familiar with the evidentiary atmosphere at trial possesses a better-informed view of the damages than" the reviewing court. *Id.* (quoting *Vinson v. Hatley*, 324 S.C. 389, 405-06, 477 S.E.2d 715, 723 (Ct. App. 1996)).

The Court of Appeals noted that this Court clarified the abuse-of-discretion standard of review in *Riley v. Ford Motor Co.*, 414 S.C. 185, 194, 777 S.E.2d 824, 829 (2015), finding that "the court of appeals ignored the applicable abuse-of-discretion standard of review, instead focusing its inquiry on a de novo evaluation of whether, in its view, there was sufficient justification for 'invading the jury's province.' This was error." *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 655, 869 S.E.2d at 845. Fisher/Crosby wanted the Court of Appeals to commit the very reviewing error found in *Riley*. It asked the Court of Appeals, and now this Court, to second-guess the circuit court and find its conclusions "speculative."

The Court of Appeals considered Fisher/Crosby’s arguments and reviewed the circuit court’s reasoning, particularly its reliance on Dr. Frank’s undisputed testimony that he had seen partial medical bills of \$142,000. The Court of Appeals disagreed with Fisher/Crosby’s characterization of the circuit court’s reasoning as “speculative,” and agreed with the circuit court that “[i]t is more likely that the jury awarded Dale \$142,000 for medical expenses and the remainder of the \$200,000 (\$58,000) for non-economic damages” than that the jury simply ignored or failed to credit Dr. Frank’s testimony. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 657, 869 S.E.2d at 846.

The Court of Appeals followed precedent in affirming the new trial *nisi*. The court emphasized that “[t]he consideration of a motion for a new trial nisi additur requires [the circuit court] to consider the adequacy of the verdict *in light of the evidence presented*.” *Id.* (quoting *Vinson*, 324 S.C. at 405, 477 S.E.2d at 723) (emphasis added by Court of Appeals). As the court discussed, the case law relied on by Fisher/Crosby does not establish that the circuit court speculated in analyzing the jury’s damages award. This case is “unlike” *Jenkins v. Few*, 391 S.C. 209, 705 S.E.2d 457 (Ct. App. 2010) and *Moore v. Moore*, 360 S.C. 241, 257, 599 S.E.2d 467, 475 (Ct. App. 2004) because “the circuit court in the present case possessed concrete information from the evidence on which it could base its observation about the jury’s award of medical costs.” *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 658, 869 S.E.2d at 846.⁵

⁵ Fisher/Crosby’s reliance on this Court’s recent decision in *Stoneledge at Lake Keowee Owners’ Ass’n, Inc. v. IMK Dev. Co., LLC*, 435 S.C. 109, 866 S.E.2d 542 (2021), is also misplaced. *Stoneledge* did not involve the grant of a new trial *nisi additur*, but a “reformation” of the jury’s verdict by the trial court that was not

Far from affirming based on a different basis than the circuit court, the Court of Appeals reviewed the entirety of the circuit court's reasons for granting a new trial *nisi*. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 658-64, 869 S.E.2d at 847-50. It upheld that reasoning as grounded in the evidence, noting that the circuit court "thoroughly summarized the evidence supporting an increased verdict" and that "[t]he essence of the circuit court's ruling was the inadequacy of the overall verdict in light of the evidence presented at trial." *Id.* at 658, 869 S.E.2d at 847. This is consistent with *Riley*, where there was no abuse of discretion in a new trial *nisi* to triple the jury's award when based on the evidence. 414 S.C. at 189, 194, 777 S.E.2d at 827, 829-30.

In arguing that the circuit court "substituted" its judgment for that of the jury, Fisher/Crosby fundamentally misunderstand the case law. Circuit courts are empowered to grant a new trial *nisi* when finding, based on the evidence, that the jury's verdict is inadequate. *Sapp*, 402 S.C. at 512, 741 S.E.2d at 571; *Vinson*, 324 S.C. at 405, 477 S.E.2d at 723; *Proctor v. Dep't of Health & Envtl. Control*, 368 S.C. 279, 320, 628 S.E.2d 496, 518 (Ct. App. 2006). Judge Toal accorded due deference to the jury, and granted a new trial *nisi* in an amount less than requested by the Jollys. Under this Court's precedent, she did not substitute her judgment for that of the jury in giving Fisher/Crosby the option between a *nisi additur* and a new trial. *Graham v. Whitaker*, 282 S.C. 393, 401, 321 S.E.2d 40, 45 (1984). This Court has explained that "the import of a new trial *nisi additur* or *nisi remittitur* is a requested by any party and that was not based in the evidence. *Id.* at 109, 866 S.E.2d at 555 ("The court of appeals correctly held the trial court invaded the province of the jury by reforming the verdicts on its own.").

suggestion on the part of the judge of a settlement figure.” *Id.* Fisher/Crosby was free to accept or reject the new trial *nisi additur. Id.*

The Court of Appeals correctly concluded that “the circuit court acted well within its discretion in granting Respondents’ motion for new trial *nisi additur.*” *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 664, 869 S.E. 2d at 850. Fisher/Crosby’s vehement disagreement about the propriety of a new trial *nisi* does not provide a basis for certiorari review.

IV. The Court of Appeals properly upheld the circuit court’s setoff of settlement proceeds only for the two claims tried against Fisher/Crosby.

The Court of Appeals rejected all of Fisher/Crosby’s setoff arguments at length. *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 664-71, 869 S.E.2d at 850-854. As grounds for review, Fisher/Crosby argue only that the Court of Appeals’ opinion “contradicts” the so-called “plain language” of S.C. Code Ann. § 15–38–50 that a release with one defendant “reduces the claim against the others to the extent of any amount stipulated by the release . . .” They claim that section 15–38–50 mandates that the entire amount of the release be set off against the verdict regardless of how the Jollys have chosen to allocate the release among their personal injury, wrongful death, and loss of consortium claims.

Fisher/Crosby’s argument relies on a selective reading of section 15–38–50 that ignores the crucial language that a setoff may only be had for the “same injury or the same wrongful death” as the claims brought against the trial defendant. Fisher/Crosby would have a setoff granted for release of the Jollys’ wrongful death

claims that *were not tried* against Fisher/Crosby, as only Mr. Jolly's personal injury claim and Mrs. Jolly's loss of consortium claim were considered by the jury.

The Court of Appeals disagreed with Fisher/Crosby's view, explaining that under established law “[a] nonsettling defendant is entitled to credit for the amount paid by another defendant who settles *for the same cause of action.*” *Jolly*, 435 S.C. at 665, 869 S.E.2d at 850 (quoting *Riley*, 414 S.C. at 195, 777 S.E.2d at 830) (emphasis added by the Court of Appeals)). Of course, “when the prior settlement involves compensation for a different injury from the one tried to verdict, there is no setoff as a matter of law.” *Id.* at 666, 869 S.E.2d at 851 (quoting *Smith v. Widener*, 397 S.C. 468, 473, 724 S.E.2d 188, 191 (Ct. App. 2012)).

The circuit court properly recognized the Jollys' internal allocation of their settlement proceeds as one-third each to their personal injury, loss of consortium, and wrongful death claims. *Id.* at 664, 671, 869 S.E.2d at 850, 854. Such internal allocations are permitted under section 15–38–50 because “our case law favors a plaintiff's ability to apportion settlement proceeds ‘in the manner most advantageous to it.’” *Id.* at 666-67, 869 S.E.2d at 851 (quoting *Riley*, 414 S.C. at 197, 777 S.E.2d at 831).

The Court also “reject[ed] Appellants' argument that the amount Respondents allocated to a future wrongful death claim compensates for the same injuries at issue in the present case.” *Id.* at 670, 869 S.E.2d at 853. Recovery for personal injuries sustained by the decedent during his lifetime (also recoverable through a survival claim after death) are distinct from wrongful death claims for

damages sustained by the beneficiaries as a result of the death. *Id.* (citing S.C. Code Ann. § 15-5-90 (2005); *Scott v. Porter*, 340 S.C. 158, 170, 530 S.E.2d 389, 395 (Ct. App. 2000)). The Jollys' internal allocation did not result in a double-recovery because no damages suffered by Mr. Jolly's beneficiaries were recovered from Fisher/Crosby at trial. *Id.* at 671, 869 S.E.2d at 854.

Fisher/Crosby largely ignore the Court of Appeals's reasoning and instead cite case law from Florida and California that they raised for the first time in their petition for rehearing. The newly cited cases do not address the factual scenario presented here in which plaintiffs have released *different* claims than those brought against the trial defendant. The case of *Dionese v. City of W. Palm Beach*, 500 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 1987), involved personal injury and loss of consortium claims brought by a husband and wife against multiple defendants. The wife's injuries were not fatal and there were no future or wrongful death claims released. Plus, the internal allocation of the settlements between the husband's and wife's claims was unevenly divided and strangely weighted toward the husband's loss of consortium claims. *Id.* at 1348. This is not comparable to the Jollys' proportional allocation of one-third to each of their three claims. The holding of *Dionese* is also contrary to South Carolina's policy in favor of allowing plaintiffs to allocate settlement proceeds in accordance with their best interests. *Riley*, 414 S.C. at 196-97, 777 S.E.2d at 830-31.

The Court of Appeals thoroughly evaluated Fisher/Crosby's arguments and properly determined that the circuit court's setoff ruling was correct given that the Jollys' trial recovery was not for all the same claims that they settled with other

defendants. Fisher/Crosby's resort to other states' inapposite case law is unavailing and does not provide grounds for certiorari review on the issue of setoff.

CONCLUSION

Fisher/Crosby have not met the review criteria of Rule 242, SCACR. They have failed to demonstrate that the Court of Appeals erred in its opinion affirming the circuit court on all issues, or that there are any important issues for this Court's review. Accordingly, their petition for certiorari should be denied.